# FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/16/2018 1:30 PM

No. 76096-3-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WYNN LOILAND and SUZANNE LOILAND,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON; PEDRO LOPEZ and JANE DOE LOPEZ, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents,

and

MARIO A. JIMENEZ PEREZ and JANE DOE PEREZ, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Defendants.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Wynn and Suzanne Loiland seek review of the published Court of Appeals opinion set forth in Part B.

### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its published opinion on December 26, 2017. It is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-13.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err in applying the professional rescuer exception to the rescue doctrine, a general rule of liability to rescuers, where the WSP's negligence occasioned by a trooper improperly responding to an accident caused by icy conditions on Interstate 5 post-dated the actions of a driver who operated his vehicle negligently under the conditions, and WSDOT continually failed to de-ice the site for hours, both before and after the original driver's negligence, and the plaintiff firefighter later dispatched to a deserted accident scene was struck by a vehicle affected by the icy conditions?
- 2. Should this Court abandon the common law professional rescuer exception to the rescue doctrine as contrary to present Washington law and harmful for the dedicated professional rescuers of our State?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts in this case are largely undisputed.<sup>1</sup> Division I's opinion sets forth the facts in this case, op. at 2-4, and Loiland will not repeat them here. However, several facts bear emphasis.

Petition for Review - 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record contains an extensive Washington State Patrol ("WSP") investigation team report as well as Sgt. Alexander's own accident report. CP 27-74.

The Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") was long aware that there were icy conditions on the roads in south King County during the night of November 20, 2011. CP 37. WSDOT first received a request for a de-icer on SR 167 at 3:30 a.m. CP 207. WSDOT received a call at 3:30 a.m. from the WSP that there were hazardous, slippery conditions on I-5 near the 272nd Street overpass in Federal Way. CP 37, 110-11, 113.

WSP Sergeant Johnny Alexander responded at 4:35 a.m. to a call concerning a one-car accident involving Pedro Lopez and a passenger that occurred at 4:30 a.m. CP 35, 104. Allegedly concerned for the safety of Lopez and his passenger, Alexander decided to transport them off the freeway. CP 73.<sup>2</sup> Alexander did not mark the scene<sup>3</sup> or arrange for traffic control at the site of the hazard; he did not call in to WSDOT to de-ice the roadway or to send an incident response team; he did not call the crash into Valley Com, the emergency dispatcher for the area, as having been cleared. CP 101-02. Alexander knew the deserted crash site was a nuisance for the motoring public. CP 98-99. Alexander left Lopez's

<sup>2</sup> Loiland's expert, Charles Lewis, a former Alaska state trooper, was critical of this decision; he opined that Alexander should have remained at the scene: "The trooper is supposed to stay on the scene until relieved." CP 314.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To "mark' the accident site means to indicate that authorities had responded to the crash. Alexander's failure to do so was tantamount to having no WSP response.

vehicle unmarked and on its side with its lights illuminated, CP 73, 98, and transported Lopez and Ortiz to a nearby Denny's restaurant at around 5:09 a.m. CP 73, 104.

After Valley Com dispatched Engine 66 from South King County Fire 8 and Rescue and Engine 73 from the Kent Fire Department to the I-5 Lopez accident scene, CP 182, Wynn Loiland, a South King County Fire & Rescue firefighter and member of Engine 66's crew, CP 38, marked the accident scene. *Id.* Mario Perez's Chevrolet Blazer lost control and struck Loiland on the right shoulder of the road. CP 31, 38. The impact nearly killed Loiland, who sustained serious personal injuries including head injuries, a collapsed lung, and a broken arm from the collision. CP 32.

WSDOT failed to de-ice the I-5 roadway in question until 7:15 a.m., approximately four hours after WSP initially advised it of icy conditions there. CP 34.

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED<sup>4</sup>

(1) <u>The Rescue Doctrine and Its Professional Rescuer</u> <u>Exception in Washington</u>

Petition for Review - 3

This case was resolved on summary judgment. The State is obliged to demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material fact for resolution by the trier of fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). A court must consider the evidence, and all reasonable inferences from that evidence, in a light most favorable to Loiland as the non-moving party. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Summary judgment is appropriate only if reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion from the evidence. Id.; Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). This Court reviews order on summary judgment de novo. Dowler v. Clover Park School Dist. No. 400, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011).

Washington law has recognized for more than 80 years that a person who is injured in rescuing another person may have a cause of action in tort against the party whose conduct created the need for such a rescue. *Highland v. Wilsonian Inv. Co.*, 171 Wash. 34, 17 P.2d 631 (1932); *French v. Chase*, 48 Wn.2d 825, 830, 297 P.2d 235 (1956).<sup>5</sup> In *McCoy v. American Suzuki Motor Corp.*, 136 Wn.2d 350, 355-56, 961 P.2d 952 (1998), this Court noted that it is foreseeable that a rescuer will come to the aid of a person's imperiled by a tortfeasor's conduct, and negates any presumption that the rescuer assumed the risk of undertaking the rescue. The doctrine is not a separate theory of recovery but, rather, "it is shorthand for the idea that rescuers are to be anticipated and is a reflection of a societal value judgment that rescuers should not be barred from brining suit for knowingly placing themselves in danger to undertake a rescue." *Id.* at 356.

Id. at 437-38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Washington's formulation of the rescue doctrine derives from then-Judge Benjamin Cardozo's classic formulation of its rationale in *Wagner v. Int'l Ry.*, 133 N.E. 437 (N.Y. 1921) where he stated:

Danger invites rescue. The cry of distress is the summons to relief. The law does not ignore these reactions of the mind in tracing conduct to its consequences. It recognizes them as normal. It places their effects within the range of the naturel and probable. The wrong that imperils life is a wrong to the imperiled victim; it is a wrong also to his rescuer. . . . The risk of rescue, if only it be not wanton, is born of the occasion. The emergency begets the man. The wrongdoer may not have foreseen the coming of a deliverer. He is accountable as if he had.

In *Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 530 P.2d 254 (1975), this Court first articulated a limitation on the ability of professional rescuers to recover under the rescue doctrine. Citing to New Jersey and Oregon authority, *id.* at 978,<sup>6</sup> the Court restricted the ability of professional rescuers to recover *on principles of assumption of the risk*, stating: "In the case of a professional rescuer certain hazards are assumed which are not assumed by a voluntary rescuer. The professional rescuer, however, does not assume all the hazards that may be present in a particular rescue operation." *Id.*<sup>7</sup> Thus, this Court concluded, there must be "special"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Both New Jersey and Oregon have since rejected this exception to the general principle of the rescue doctrine. It is also ironic that the first seeds to the elimination of the doctrine were planted in an extensive dissent in the New Jersey Supreme Court in Berko v. Freda, 459 A.2d 663 (N.J. 1983), a case that post-dated the 1960 New Jersey case cited in Maltman. That dissent attacked the public policy considerations underlying the firefigher's rule, questioning why other public employees with inherent risks in their professions, but not police officers or firefighters, have been allowed to recover from negligent tortfeasors—especially when "workers compensation standing alone is rarely adequate redress," and noting the similarities between police officers and other public employees in many of their job functions. Police officers and highway workers are exposed to identical risks when they are called to perform traffic patrol on a busy highway. However, the highway worker is allowed to recover if injured by a negligent driver, while the police officer is held to assume those risks. Id. at 670-71 (Handler, J., dissenting). The dissent further stated that there was no good reason for police officers and firefighters not to fall under the rescue doctrine because with professional rescuers like firefighters and police officers, the predicate of "foreseeability of rescue" underlying this rule should actually increase the duty of care owed by the negligent party because of "the certainty of the foreseeability that rescue will be a consequence of the negligence." Id. at 673. The dissent concluded that the firefighter's rule "runs counter to the principles of justice upon which our system of tort law is based." Id. at 674. See also, Walters v. Sloan, 142 Cal. Rptr. 152, 157-63 (Cal. 1977) (Tobriner, J., dissenting).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *Maltman*, the Court concluded that the defendant motorist was not liable to the estates of the crew of an Army helicopter dispatched to the scene of a motor vehicle accident to medi-vac an injured motorist to the hospital where the helicopter crashed en route. The Court found no liability both because no duty was present because the crash

criteria for assessing the applicability of the doctrine in a given case to a professional rescuer." *Id.* at 979. The Court did not eliminate the ability of professional rescuers to recover under the rescue doctrine but it limited that ability: "When the injury is the result of a hazard generally recognized as being within the scope of dangers identified with the particular rescue operation, the doctrine will be unavailable to that plaintiff." *Id.*<sup>8</sup>

The *Maltman* rationale for the professional rescuer exception based on assumption of the risk is not only inconsistent with *McCoy*, it is inconsistent with this Court's more recent analyses of assumption of the risk, as will be noted *infra*.

Additionally, the professional rescuer exception is so patently unfair that in *all* the subsequent reported cases in Washington since *Maltman*, with *one* exception, Washington courts have applied exceptions

was essentially unforeseeable and the rescue doctrine was unavailable to the crew as professional rescuers. *Id.* at 983.

8 This exception has sometimes been described as the fireman's rule. To be precise, however, the fireman's rule had its origin as a defense to premises liability. The professional rescuer exception is broader, a defense by tort claims from any professional rescuer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In *Black Indus. v. Emco Helicopters, Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 697, 577 P.2d 610 (1978), Division I held that the owner of a helicopter that crashed while fighting a fire did not state a claim against the corporation whose negligence caused the fire. The rescuer there was clearly responding to the specific hazard created by the tortfeasor.

to the professional rescuer exception to hold that a professional rescuer stated a claim against the tortfeasor that caused his or her injuries.

The Court of Appeals<sup>10</sup> and this Court have found that a professional rescuer stated a claim against the tortfeasor. In *Beaupre v*. *Pierce County*, 161 Wn.2d 568, 166 P.3d 712 (2007),<sup>11</sup> this Court determined that the professional rescuer exception was inapplicable in a case where a deputy sheriff sued his county employer after he was struck by a fellow deputy's patrol car while in hot pursuit of a domestic violence suspect. Citing the Court of Appeals cases referenced above, this Court reaffirmed that "the professional rescue doctrine does not apply when an independent or intervening act causes the professional rescuer's injury." *Id.* at 572.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>10</sup> E.g., Sutton v. Shufelberger, 31 Wn. App. 579, 643 P.2d 920 (1982) (police officer struck by defendant's truck after dismounting from his motorcycle after stopping a vehicle in a traffic stop to issue a citation; the professional rescuer exception was inapplicable to a third party whose intervening negligence injures the rescuer while in the performance of his or her duties); Ward v. Torjussen, 52 Wn. App. 280, 758 P.2d 1012 (1988) (police officer stated a claim against driver who struck her vehicle while on the way to investigate a call regarding a prowler); Ballou v. Nelson, 67 Wn. App. 67, 834 P.2d 97 (1992) (police officers injured while removing intoxicated guests from a hotel stated a claim where there was no actual rescue and the guests assaulted the officers, an intentional tort).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Note, Tort Law — Professional Rescue Doctrine — Washington Supreme Court Declines to Apply Professional Rescue Doctrine in suit by Policeman Against Fellow Officer — Beaupre v. Pierce County, 166 P.3d 712 (Wash. 2007), 121 Harv. L. Rev. 1644 (2008).

<sup>12</sup> The Court noted that an officer's fellow officers were "intervening parties," particularly where the Legislature had provided for a specific statutory basis for such officers suing their public employers, notwithstanding the usual employer immunity in the worker compensation setting. *Id.* at 573-75. *See* RCW 41.26.281; *Fray v. Spokane* 

The cases referenced above involved independent third-party negligence that caused rescuer injuries. They certainly did not address the situation where an original tortfeasor continued his or her negligent conduct and injured a rescuer after the rescuer was dispatched and arrived at the scene. Where the negligence is continuing in nature, the professional rescuer exception should not apply. Central to the analysis is the fact that the professional rescuer is injured at the scene after arriving there for reasons distinct from those that compelled the professional rescuer to be present at the rescue scene.<sup>13</sup>

In *Ballou*, Division I found the exception did not apply to bar police officers' actions against tavern patrons who assaulted the officers

County, 134 Wn.2d 637, 952 P.2d 601 (1998) (invalidating legislation that eliminated ability of police officers and firefighters to sue their public employers); Locke v. City of Seattle, 162 Wn.2d 474, 172 P.3d 705 (2007) (upholding constitutionality of right to sue

against sovereign immunity, state constitution privileges and immunities challenge).

<sup>13</sup> E.g., Ballou, 67 Wn. App. at 72; Ward, 52 Wn. App. at 287 (noting it "only relieves the perpetrator of the act that caused the rescuer to be at the scene"); Sutton, 31 Wn. App. at 587-88; Black Indus., 19 Wn. App. at 699 (noting a rescuer "cannot recover from the one whose negligence created the hazard"). It also relieves the defendant only for the specific negligent conduct that created the need for the rescuer's presence. E.g., Maltman, 84 Wn.2d at 979 (noting a rescuer "cannot complain of the negligence which created the actual necessity for exposure to those hazards"); Sutton, 31 Wn. App. at 587-88; Black Indus., 19 Wn. App. at 699 (noting a rescuer "cannot complain of negligence in the creation of the very occasion for his engagement" quoting Krauth v. Geller, 31 N.J. 270, 273-74, 157 A.2d 129 (N.J. 1960)). The doctrine also does not apply to prevent a rescuer's recovery "against someone who intentionally injures the [rescuer] or causes injury by his active negligence after the [rescuer] arrives on the scene." Ballou, 67 Wn. App. at 71-72. Nor does it apply "when an independent or intervening act causes the professional rescuer's injury." Beaupre, 161 Wn.2d at 572. In theory, the exception exists in part to encourage citizens to call for assistance, despite their negligence. Ballou, 67 Wn. App. at 73. It does not entitle the initial tortfeasor to continue its negligent conduct simply because its actions already caused a crash.

after they arrived. In so holding, the court relied in part on *Lang v*. *Glusica*, 393 N.W.2d 181, 183 (Minn. 1986), for the proposition that the exception does not apply "to prevent recovery by a [rescuer] against someone who intentionally injures the [rescuer] or causes injury by his active negligence after the [rescuer] arrives on the scene." *Ballou*, 67 Wn. App. at 71-72. *Lang* in turn relied on *Kaiser v. N. States Power Co.*, 353 N.W.2d 899 (Minn. 1984), *overruled on other grounds by Tyroll v. Private Label Chems. Inc.*, 505 N.W.2d 54 (Minn. 1993), which issued an opinion under similar facts to the current action. <sup>14</sup>

Notwithstanding the foregoing authority, Division I misapplied the professional rescuer exception.

(2) <u>Division I's Application of the Professional Rescuer</u>
Exception Does Not Apply Here as to the State Is Contrary
to Decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals

Review is merited here because Division I's published opinion contravenes decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). The professional rescuer exception was arguably

Petition for Review - 9

In *Kaiser*, Northern States Power's ("NSP") gas equipment caused an explosion at a hotel. *Id.* at 902. Firefighters responded. *Id.* However, NSP failed to cutoff the gas after the explosion, leading to a second explosion, causing injuries to the firefighters responding to the first explosion. *Id.* Among other reasons, the court held "that NSP may be liable to these firefighters if its employees were causally negligent after the firefighters arrived at the scene of the fire." *Id.* at 906. Based on the limited record, the court found that it presented a jury question. *Id.* 

applicable here as to Lopez;<sup>15</sup> but not otherwise. Loiland was called to the scene because Lopez operated his vehicle unsafely under the conditions. He was cited for such action by Sgt. Alexander.

First, it is clear that the exception is inapplicable to the WSP. WSP's conduct constituted independent negligence, as discussed in the cases of the Court of Appeals and this Court, *supra*, to which the exception does not apply. Its negligence neither created the Lopez crash nor caused Loiland's presence;<sup>16</sup> had WSP's Sgt. Alexander properly marked and cleared the Lopez crash, it would have *prevented* Loiland from needing to travel to the deserted scene, and he would not have been injured. Further, had Sgt. Alexander properly marked the scene, even if Loiland had been required to respond, Loiland would not have needed to exit the fire apparatus to mark the scene himself, and would not have been in harm's way. Because WSP did not cause Loiland's presence, the exception does not apply; WSP's negligence was independent of any negligence that caused the rescue operation or Loiland's dispatch.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> If the Court abolishes the professional rescuer exception, as Loiland asserts it should, Lopez could also be liable to Loiland on traditional tort principles and the summary judgment in his favor should be reversed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> It is noteworthy that Lopez never averred that WSP's negligence caused the Lopez crash or that WSP's negligence caused Loiland's presence. CP 3-6, 228-31.

Moreover, WSP's negligence occurred after the Lopez crash; it did not cause the Lopez crash. Loiland would have responded to the Lopez crash even in the absence of WSP's negligence. In fact, later passing drivers, after WSP abandoned the scene, reported the crash. Loiland was dispatched to the crash because of these reports, and would have been at the scene, regardless of WSP's conduct. As such, WSP's negligence was independent of the reason for which Loiland was present at the accident scene, and the professional rescuer exception does not apply to his claims against WSP.

Division I's rationale for the application of the exception to WSP, op. at 10-13, simply fails to hold water. In fact, its notion that independent negligence may fall within the "ambit" of the dangers associated with the risk that brought the professional rescuer to the scene undercuts all the case law on the exceptions to the professional rescuer exception.

Second, the exception is also inapplicable to WSDOT's continuing negligence. WSDOT's ongoing failure to de-ice I-5 after the Lopez crash and after Loiland's response was independent, continuing negligence to which the exception also does not apply. WSDOT's ongoing failure to de-ice I-5 after the Lopez crash caused Perez to lose control of his vehicle and slide into Loiland as he attended to the Lopez crash.

Finally, the exception's policy also does not support permitting the State to claim its benefits.<sup>17</sup>

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