FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/19/2018 10:47 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95415-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WYNN LOILAND and SUZANNE LOILAND,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

GARTH A. AHEARN Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 29840 Torts Division P.O. Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 253-593-6136 OID No. 91105

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Review is Not Warranted Because the Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with the Decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals Limiting Liability to Professional Rescuers

Contrary to Loiland's contentions, Washington precedent interpreting the professional rescuer doctrine is well-settled and harmonious, and the Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with that case law and there is no conflict warranting this Court's review.

1. A professional rescuer cannot recover from persons whose negligence caused the rescuer to be at the scene and the rescuer was injured by a hazard generally associated with the rescue activity

Understanding the professional rescuer doctrine starts with this Court's holding in *Maltman*: "It is the business of professional rescuers to deal with certain hazards, and such an individual cannot complain of the negligence which created the actual necessity for exposure to those hazards." *Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 979, 530 P.2d 254 (1975). The "proper test" for the hazards and injuries barred by the doctrine is:

Whether the hazard ultimately responsible for causing the injury is inherently within the ambit of those dangers which are unique to and generally associated with the particular rescue activity.

Maltman, 84 Wn.2d at 979.

The doctrine is <u>not</u> an affirmative defense where a defendant might be negligent but where liability is defeated for other reasons. Under the professional rescuer doctrine there is *no duty* owed to the plaintiff in the first place. *Sutton*, 31 Wn. App. at 587, n.2. *See also*, *Carson v. Headrick*, 900 S.W.2d 685, 688 (1995).

2. The professional rescuer doctrine does not bar a rescuer's claim for damages against third parties whose intervening or independent negligence caused injury

As recognized by this Court and the Court of Appeals, the professional rescuer doctrine has limits. It does not apply to independent acts of negligence that injure the professional rescuer.

For example, in *Ballou v. Nelson*, 67 Wn. App. 67, 71, 834 P.2d 97 (1982), the doctrine did not prevent the rescuer from suing individuals who intentionally struck the rescuer. An intentional assault is distinct from the negligence that brought the officer to the rescue scene. Similarly, when a police officer is injured in a motor vehicle accident while responding to a prowler call, the officer can sue the driver as "intervening negligence," because it was not the driver's action that caused the officer to be traveling to the rescue sight. *See Ward v. Torjussen*, 52 Wn. App. 280, 286, 758 P.2d 1012 (1988). Finally, in *Sutton*, the court held that a police officer could sue a passing car that hit him during a traffic stop. The professional rescuer

doctrine did not "forgive negligent or intentional injury...by an intervenor." *Sutton*, 31 Wn. App. at 588.

These legal principles are now well-established in Washington. This Court approved this line of Court of Appeals cases when it affirmed that the professional rescuer doctrine "does not apply when an independent or intervening act causes the professional rescuer's injury." Beaupre, 161 Wn.2d 568. The *Beaupre* Court then addressed the line between intervening actions and persons "responsible for bringing the rescuer to a scene"—the very issue raised by the Petition. Beaupre held that there is a difference between a party whose negligence required the plaintiff to respond to the scene and a subsequent intervener. In *Beaupre*, an officer was in pursuit of a domestic violence suspect on foot when he was hit by another officer's police car. The Court held that the professional rescuer doctrine did not bar the injured officer from taking action against his fellow officer's intervening negligence. "The doctrine does not apply to negligent or intentional acts of intervening parties not responsible for bringing the rescuer to the scene." *Id.* at 575 (emphasis added).

3. The opinion below presents no conflict with case law warranting this Court's review

The Petition claims the court below "misapplied the professional rescuer doctrine." Petition for Review (Petition) at 9. Specifically, it argues

that WSP actions "neither created the Lopez crash nor caused Loiland's presence" at the scene and therefore the actions of WSP's conduct constituted independent or intervening negligence. Petition at 10. This assertion is in direct conflict with Loiland's previous arguments in his motion for partial summary judgment, where he stated if WSP Sgt. Alexander had acted differently at the Lopez accident scene it would have "prevented" Mr. Loiland from being at the scene.

As for WSDOT, the Petition admits the "failure to deice . . . prior to the Lopez crash was a proximate cause of that crash." Petition at 12. It is undisputed that Loiland responded to the Lopez accident. Thus, based on Loiland's own arguments both the actions of WSDOT and WSP were causes of Loiland being at the scene where he was then injured by a known hazard.¹

As a threshold matter, the Rules of Appellate Practice require a showing of a conflict in the legal rules used by the different courts, not merely a dispute over how a court applied existing law to a unique set of facts. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Because the thrust of the Petition claims that the Court of Appeals misapplied existing law, review may be denied on that basis.

¹ WSP and WSDOT deny they were negligent. However, for the purpose of properly focusing the issue, they admit negligence for the purpose of this argument only.

In any event, the Court of Appeals applied the law correctly. And that factually unique ruling does not conflict with any cases decided by this Court or other courts of appeals.

With regard to the claim against WSP, the Petition claims "it is clear" that the "WSP's conduct constituted independent negligence." Petition at 10. But Loiland relies on a principle not found in cases to assert that his claim involves independent negligence. He argues that the WSP's negligence did not create the original crash or cause Loiland's presence at the site. *Id.* But no case law requires the WSP to show that it literally caused the first crash. Plus, the Court of Appeals' opinion contradicts Loiland's characterization—the opinion expressly states that under Loiland's theory, "WSP's alleged negligence was a cause of Loiland's presence". *Loiland,* slip op. at 7 (emphasis added). Thus, the decision did not, as Loiland claims, reject the independent negligence rule in circumstances where the WSP did *not* cause Loiland to be present at the site. It rejected the independent negligence rule because it concluded that WSP was a cause of Loiland to be at the site. Thus, the opinion avoids the conflict claimed by Loiland.

With regard to the WSDOT, the Petition claims there was continuing negligence in failing to deice the highway after the accident that led to Loiland responding to the scene. Based on this, Loiland claims that case law should have treated the WSDOT's actions as an independent act

of misconduct. Petition at 13. Again, Loiland's arguments ignore the fact that WSDOT's alleged negligence was the same negligence that caused the original accident that caused Loiland's presence at the site of his injury. *Loiland*, slip op. at 7. And, as the opinion notes, Loiland cites no cases where the original negligence causing an accident is transformed into independent negligence. *Loiland*, slip op. at 10. Indeed, Loiland's approach could swallow the professional rescuer rule by creating a duty to remedy the need for a professional rescuer's response or risk being liable.

Thus, applying Loiland's own arguments, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with *Beaupre*. First, the alleged negligent actions of WSDOT and WSP were a cause of Loiland being at the scene as a professional rescuer. Second, being hit on a highway by an errant vehicle is a known risk of working as a professional rescuer while responding to an incident on a busy highway. The Court of Appeals' decision follows the distinction this Court made in *Beaupre* between the independent/ intervening negligent actions of a party who was "not responsible for bringing the rescuer to the scene," *Beaupre*, 161 Wn.2d at 575, from the actions of a party who causes the rescuer to come to the scene.

In the end, there is no merit to Petitioner's claims of a conflict and the law remains unchanged by the Court of Appeals' ruling. Negligent conduct that causes the situation to which an officer responds ("creates the need" for his presence) is subject to the professional rescuer doctrine. Therefore, the fact there can be multiple actors who are a cause of the professional's presence not only is in concert with the general rule regarding proximate cause but is also consistent with the reality that there are often more than one cause of why a professional rescuer must respond to a scene.²

The Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with *Ballou* as well. In *Ballou*, the court stated: "While the fireman's rule prevents a fireman [from] recovering for negligently or recklessly caused fire, it does not provide protection to one who commits independent acts of misconduct after firefighters have arrived on the premises." *Ballou*, 67 Wn. App. at 71. Here, the Court of Appeals expressly found that the alleged negligent state actions were not independent injurious acts after the rescuer arrived.³

Sutton provides a further example of this distinction. In Sutton, the court refused to apply the doctrine to a motorist who struck an officer who was standing on the side of the road, writing another motorist a ticket. Sutton, 31 Wn. App. at 588. The driver's negligent act occurred after the officer was already on the scene, thus it did not "create the need" for his presence. However, the court did state that the traffic violator could use the

² A multiple car accident on a freeway is a prime example. Often times, more than one person or entity is a cause of the accident, which requires the professional rescuer to respond.

doctrine, because it was her negligence that created the need for the officer to be on the scene. *Id.* at 588. But here, WSDOT's and WSP's allegedly negligent actions came before and they were part of what created the need for Loiland to be at the scene. They did not commit an independent act of negligence while Loiland was at the scene which was separate from why Loiland had to respond to the scene so the doctrine applies. As such, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent *Ballou*.

Finally, there is no merit to Loiland's argument claiming a conflict with *McCoy* because it addressed the application of the liability imposed by the rescuer doctrine, not the limits imposed by the professional rescuer doctrine. *McCoy v. American Suzuki Motor Corp.*, 136 Wn.2d 350, 961 P.2d 952 (1998). These are two independent and distinct issues. As this Court explained in *Maltman*, the rescuer doctrine addresses the scope of potential liability—that is, what hazards are attributed to the person whose negligence caused the need for a rescue:

The "rescue doctrine" articulated in French v. Chase, 48 Wn.2d 825, 297 P.2d 235 (1956), implicitly necessitates a special criteria for assessing the applicability in a given case to a professional rescuer. We conclude that the proper test for determining a professional rescuer's right to recover under the "rescue doctrine" is whether the hazard ultimately responsible for causing the injury is inherently within the ambit of those dangers which are unique to and generally associated with the particular rescue activity.

Maltman, 84 Wn.2d at 979 (emphasis supplied). There is no conflict with this case because there is no debate that the hazard which injured Loiland is inherently within the ambit of the dangers generally associated with responding to a roadside incident. In short, the Petition fails to shows any conflict that warrants this Court's review.

B. There is No Reason or Basis to Abolish The Professional Rescuer Doctrine

Loiland's Petition also renews his request asking this Court to overrule the professional rescuer doctrine entirely. As he did when initially seeking direct review from the trial level, Loiland again argues that the professional rescuer doctrine is outdated, rife with exception, conflicts with this court's holding in *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010), has been criticized by academics, and is unfair. These arguments have little substance and do not rise to a showing that the precedent is harmful as applied in Washington and should be overruled.

The professional rescuer doctrine is not outdated. Washington never adopted the century-old, premises-liability based firemen's rule. This Court did not even address the issue until 1975 in *Maltman*. Thus, Washington's professional rescuer doctrine arose from modern legal and policy principles.⁴

⁴ The distinct label given to this doctrine by the Washington courts is more than a matter of semantics. Indeed, Washington has one of the broadest definition of the rule in

The doctrine is not rife with exceptions. There are only two exceptions in Washington State. As reviewed above, the doctrine does not preclude suit for injuries due to intentional torts or independent/intervening acts of negligence. And, as explained above, neither exception applies here.

Gregoire does not support Loiland's request to overrule the doctrine. The Court's discussion in *Gregoire* regarding the assumption of risk analysis applicable to the rescuer doctrine is inapposite here. *Gregoire* involved whether a jailor's duty to keep a prisoner free from harm is nullified by an inmate assuming the risk of death by suicide. *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 635. That singularly unique question about assumption of the risk is irrelevant to the professional rescuer doctrine test outlined by this Court in *Maltman*.

Application of the professional rescuer doctrine is not premised on an officer assuming the specific risk that causes the injury. An officer needs only to encounter a known risk "generally associated" with the work for the doctrine to apply. It does not matter whether they have encountered exactly

the United States, applying it to all professional rescuers—not just fire fighters and police officers. See, e.g., Maltman, 84 Wn.2d 975; and, Black Industries, Inc. v. Emco Helicopters Inc., 19 Wn. App. 697, 577 P.2d 610 (1978). In these cases, the court held that civilian and military rescuers are also barred from bringing suit. Maltman involved the crash of a helicopter, and the ensuing deaths of its pilot and crewmembers. Black Industries involved the crash of a helicopter flown by a private pilot. In each case, the helicopter was responding to an emergency: in Maltman, an automobile accident, and in Black Industries, a forest fire. The plaintiff in each case brought suit against the person whose negligence caused the rescue attempt (in Maltman, the individual who caused the motor vehicle accident, and in Black Industries, the individual who started the forest fire).

the same situation before. *Maltman*, 84 Wn.2d at 979 (the risk need only be "generally associated" with officer's work); *see also Prosser & Keeton on Torts* § 61, at 432 (5th ed. 1984) (police officers are "trained to be on guard for any such general dangers inherent in the profession"). Therefore, this Court's discussion in *Gregoire* regarding the aspects of assumption of risk does not support overturning the doctrine.⁵

Loiland's reliance on law review articles provides him no relief as well. Of the four states addressed in the articles, each state continues to have some form of the doctrine that remains recognized judicially or in the case of Michigan has been codified by the Legislature. *Levandoski v. Cone*, 267 Conn. 651, 841 A.2d 208 (2004); *Gray v. Russell*, 853 S.W.2d 928, 930 (Mo. 1993) (en banc); *Nowicki v. Pigue*, 2013 Ark. 499, 430 S.W.3d 765 (2013); and *Harris-Fields v. Syze*, 461 Mich. 188, 617 n.11, 600 N.W.2d 611 (1999). In short, none of the states Loiland cites have abandoned the doctrine as he advocates.

Moreover, numerous state courts have considered the doctrine and decided not to reject it. Loiland cites to a Michigan statute to support his

⁵ Reliance on *Christensen v. Murphy*, 296 Or. 610, 678 P.2d 1210, 1214 (1984), is also misplaced because the Oregon Supreme Court only concluded that the fireman's rule no longer existed in that state, based on the Oregon Legislature's abrogation of implied primary assumption of the risk. *Christensen at* 1214. Loiland's reliance on *Wills v. Bath Excavating*, 829 P.2d 405, 409 (Colo. App. 1991, is equally misplaced since two years later the Colorado Supreme Court noted that previous case law had neither rejected or adopted a no-duty fireman's rule. *Bath Excavating & Constr. Co. v. Wills*, 847 P.2d 1141 (Colo. Sup. Ct. 1993).

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